### S225090

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ROBERT C. BARAL,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 1 6 2015

DAVID SCHNITT,

v.

Defendant and Appellant.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

After a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District,
Division One Case No. B253620

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

JAMES M. WAGSTAFFE (95535) KEVIN B. CLUNE (248681) KERR & WAGSTAFFE LLP 101 Mission Street, 18th Floor San Francisco, CA 94105 Telephone: (415) 371-8500

Facsimile: (415) 371-0500

MICHAEL C. LIEB (126831) LEEMORE L. KUSHNER (221969) ERVIN COHEN & JESSUP LLP 9401 Wilshire Blvd., 9th Floor Beverly Hills, CA 90212 Telephone: (310) 273-6333

#### I. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Can a plaintiff avoid application of the anti-SLAPP law, Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16, by merely combining claims arising from protected conduct with claims that do not so arise into what is denominated as a single "cause of action"?
- a. Did this Court in *Oasis West* intend to overrule the statement-by-statement analysis of *Taus* when it quoted, without discussion, the "any part of the claim" standard announced as an issue of first impression in *Mann* despite the fact that no party cited or discussed *Mann* or its standard in the briefs before the Court in *Oasis West*?
- b. Is what constitutes a "cause of action" under the anti-SLAPP statute different than the well-recognized meaning of that term for purposes of demurrers, motions for summary adjudication, and application of res judicata?
- c. Can a plaintiff who loses an anti-SLAPP motion avoid the settled prohibition on amending causes of action stricken by that motion by simply re-alleging the very same conduct under a different name, provided that some *other* conduct—whether protected or not—is then

added to the stricken allegations and the plaintiff styles the new amalgamation as a "single" cause of action?

## II. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO SECURE UNIFORMITY OF DECISION AND TO SETTLE IMPORTANT QUESTIONS OF LAW

Review is warranted under both prongs of Rules of Court, rule 8.500 subdivision (b)(1). First, review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision. As mentioned above, and discussed in detail below, this Court's stand-alone citation to *Mann* in *Oasis West* is to a decision that is at odds with pre-existing law, including this Court's own detailed, statement-by-statement treatment of the similar anti-SLAPP analysis presented in *Taus* just four years earlier. The Courts of Appeal have noted this unexplained departure from *Taus* and other pre-existing law numerous times in the past few years, most thoroughly in *Wallace v. McCubbin* (2011) 196
Cal.App.4th 1169, 1195-1212 [128 Cal.Rptr.3d 205] [hereafter *Wallace*], which spent seventeen pages discussing why the *Mann* rule is incorrect, inconsistent with *Taus*, and cited without analysis in *Oasis West*.

It is not at all likely the Court intended to depart from *Taus*, as well as from numerous other well-established authorities defining the term "cause of action" and disallowing plaintiffs from pleading around legal standards by lumping two separate claims together as "one" "cause of action," through the use of a single quoted sentence from *Mann*. This would be especially puzzling because the *Mann* standard (which the *Mann* 

court invented as a question of first impression) was *not* at issue in *Oasis West* and, indeed, was not even cited to this Court in any of the briefs in *Oasis West*, much less analyzed by the parties in that case. The Courts of Appeal, however, cannot resolve this dilemma and have come down on both sides of this issue, even within the same District. Only this Court can resolve the incongruity.

Second, the issues in this case are very important to the proper application of anti-SLAPP law. If the *Mann* rule is the law, then any plaintiff can plead around the anti-SLAPP statute by simply combining his or her allegations about protected speech or conduct with some other allegations about unprotected conduct, and then calling the combination "one" "cause of action." Such a rule will convert the anti-SLAPP statute from the substantive protection it is intended to be into a mere pleading trap for unwary plaintiffs. We submit that this appellate case, now at least the sixth presented on this issue in less than one year, presents a very clear record on which to review the proper method of dealing under the anti-SLAPP statute with allegations of distinct claims lumped together as unitary "causes of action."

#### III. BACKGROUND AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. THE FORMATION OF IQ BACKOFFICE

Plaintiff Robert C. Baral ("Baral") alleges that he worked with Defendant David Schnitt ("Defendant or "Petitioner") to form a new

business entity, IQ BackOffice, LLC ("IQB") in 2003. (Appellant's Appendix ["AA"] 892.) IQB was in the business of providing "outsourcing" services to other companies by, among other things, performing accounting or finance functions that such companies did not want to keep in-house. (AA138.)

The exact nature of Schnitt and Baral's agreement concerning IQB is disputed in this lawsuit, although in ways largely immaterial to the instant appeal. Schnitt claims that IQB was a single-member LLC in which he was the sole member, and that Baral was merely an "economic interest holder" (under former Corporations Code § 17001(n)), who had no right to participate in management. (AA688.) Baral contends otherwise. He argues that he and Schnitt agreed orally that Baral would be a co-managing member of IQB, and that Baral therefore had a right to participate in IQB management decisions. (AA892.)

### B. SCHNITT PREPARES TO SELL IQB AND BARAL ACCUSES SCHNITT OF FREEZING HIM OUT OF THAT PROCESS

Baral alleges that, sometime in 2010, Schnitt began efforts to sell IQB without Baral's knowledge and approval. (AA894.) When Baral found out about Schnitt's efforts to sell the company, he became very upset. (AA138-139, AA894.) Baral contended that he, as a supposed comanaging member of IQB, should have had input into decisions concerning the sale. (AA139.)

# C. SCHNITT UNCOVERS EVIDENCE OF BARAL'S SON'S EMBEZZLEMENT FROM IQB AND COMMISSIONS THE MOSS ADAMS FRAUD AUDIT IN ANTICIPATION OF LITIGATION

In compiling records in preparation for the sale of IQB, Schnitt identified a series of unauthorized IQB checks. (AA688.) Schnitt investigated the matter, and found that the checks were made out to Baral's son Mitch, who at the time was acting as IQB's bookkeeper. (AA688.) He also uncovered the fact that IQB's QuickBooks accounting records were being deleted, presumably in an attempt to conceal the theft. (AA688.)

Schnitt confronted Baral, who then *admitted* that his son had been embezzling money from IQB, agreed to pay the money back, and begged Schnitt not to report the matter to the police. (AA734-736.) Schnitt told Baral that the company needed to do a full investigation in order to identify any additional instances of misconduct and determine the full damage to the company. (AA735.) Schnitt then hired the firm of Moss Adams to conduct an independent forensic analysis to learn about the extent of the misconduct. (AA688.) He did so in anticipation of possible litigation with Baral, his company RC Baral & Co., his son Mitch, potential purchasers of IQB, and others. (AA688, 692-693.) It is this audit, referred to in this litigation as "The Moss Adams Fraud Audit," that is at the heart of the parties' current dispute in this appeal.

### D. THE MOSS ADAMS FRAUD AUDIT IMPLICATES BARAL HIMSELF IN MISCONDUCT

The Moss Adams Fraud Audit was completed on February 2, 2011, and a written Report was issued. (AA59, AA688-89, AA738-748, AA895.) The Report not only concluded that Baral's son Mitch had embezzled over \$120,000, but also implicated Baral, his company, and others in misconduct. (AA738-748.) Among other things, it concluded: Baral paid himself \$65,000 in transactions that did not appear to be authorized or supported; Baral's company, RC Baral & Co. had provided incomplete support for IQB transactions totaling \$244,072.79; and there was a discrepancy associated with a check for \$2,685.72 written out to Baral. (AA738-748.) Schnitt later disclosed the Report to IQB's investors and its potential purchaser. (AA167-168.)

Baral was, to put it mildly, unhappy with the results of the Moss Adams Fraud Audit and Schnitt's disclosure of its contents. (AA167-169, AA895.) Baral was, after all, a certified public accountant conducting business in the entertainment industry and he felt that the allegations of his own potential misconduct, combined with those regarding his son, threatened to destroy his reputation. (AA167-169.) He was also specifically concerned that publication of the Moss Adams Fraud Audit Report put him at a personal disadvantage related to the sale of IQB. (AA169.) Ultimately, IQB was sold to a company called LiveIt

Investments, Ltd. (AA169; AA895.)

E. BARAL SUES SCHNITT, ALLEGING THAT SCHNITT
DEFAMED HIM RELATED TO THE MOSS ADAMS FRAUD
AUDIT AND FROZE HIM OUT OF THE SALE OF IQB

On December 11, 2011 Baral sued Schnitt in Los Angeles Superior Court alleging 18 different causes of action. (AA2.) Sixteen of those causes of action related to Schnitt's alleged misconduct in freezing Baral out of the negotiations regarding the sale of IQB to LiveIt (these claims have been referred to in this litigation as the "LiveIt" claims). (AA16-20, AA24-41.)

Two of the causes of action—Claims Five and Six—related solely to an entirely different wrong. (AA21-24, ¶¶ 60-74.) These claims (known in this litigation as the "Moss Adams Claims") alleged that Schnitt had defamed Baral in relation to the Moss Adams Fraud Audit. Specifically, they asserted that Schnitt had defamed Baral by (1) providing slanderous information to Moss Adams "so as to predetermine conclusions that could discredit and disparage Baral" (AA21, ¶ 61), (2) later publishing the Moss Adams Fraud Audit Report to IQB's eventual purchaser and to the other investors in IQB (AA21-24, ¶¶ 63, 69), and (3) subsequently refusing to allow the supposed "errors" in the Report to be corrected. (AA24, ¶ 69.)

F. SCHNITT SUCCESSFULLY STRIKES BARAL'S DEFAMATION CLAIMS VIA AN ANTI-SLAPP MOTION, AND BARAL DOES NOT PURSUE AN APPEAL OF THAT RULING

Schnitt subsequently moved to strike the Fifth and Sixth Causes of

Action under Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16. The trial court granted the motion—correctly—holding that "communications made by defendant to accountancy firm and vendors [with] respect to alleged misappropriation of funds" "fall under CCP 425.16 as they are an act in furtherance of the person's right of petition or free speech as 'all activities in connection [with] litigation, including communications preparatory to or in anticipation of litigation, are included in the definition. CCP 425.16(e)(2); [Briggs v. Eden Council for Hope & Opportunity (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1106, 1115 (81 Cal.Rptr.2d 471, 969 P.2d 564)]." (AA276.) The court further held that "it is undisputed that plaintiff's son embezzled monies. The defendant had a right to hire Moss Adams to conduct an investigation into the corporate books to determine whether there were other misappropriations made. The declaration of defendant indicates the investigation was made in anticipation of litigation. [¶] Further, the plaintiff is not able to demonstrate a possibility of prevailing on the merits as the Litigation Privilege of [Civil Code section] 47(b) applies to the statements allegedly made by defendant while conducting the investigation in anticipation of litigation." (AA264, 276-277).

Schnitt had also filed a demurrer to various other causes of action—none of which related to Schnitt's conduct in connection with the Moss Adams Fraud Audit. (See AA16-20, AA24-41.) On the same day that it granted Schnitt's anti-SLAPP motion, the court also sustained Schnitt's

demurrer in part. (AA264.) The court then granted Baral leave to amend, but just with respect to the causes of action disposed of via the demurrer. (AA264, 267-272.) The court explicitly—and correctly—did not grant leave to amend with respect to claims stricken by the anti-SLAPP motion. (AA265.)

Baral initially appealed the order granting the special motion to strike. (AA337.) He later abandoned this appeal. (AA357.)

#### G. BARAL ATTEMPTS TO AMEND AROUND THE ANTI-SLAPP RULING AND RE-PLEADS LIABILITY BASED ON THE VERY SAME CONDUCT

In an effort to resurrect his stricken claims, Baral filed a sprawling First Amended Complaint that—in blatant disregard of the trial court's ruling denying him leave to amend the claims stricken by the anti-SLAPP statute and in violation of the settled ban on pleading around successful anti-SLAPP motions—added an additional sixteen pages of allegations concerning purported wrongdoing regarding the Moss Adams Fraud Audit. (AA279.) Schnitt again moved to strike those claims under Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16. (AA340.)

Before the court could rule on that motion, Baral filed the Second Amended Complaint—the one primarily at issue in this appeal. (AA359.) It asserted just four causes of action, for (1) Breach of Fiduciary Duty, (2) Constructive Fraud, (3) Negligent Misrepresentation, and (4) Declaratory Relief. (*Id.*) This time, in a shrewd attempt to plead his way around the

court's prior anti-SLAPP ruling, instead of pleading the exact same defamation claims in a single cause of action, Baral combined the Moss Adams Claims with the LiveIt Claims in the same cause of action. The misconduct alleged—that Schnitt had slandered Baral to Moss Adams, that he had re-published the Moss Adams Fraud Report to others, and that he was engaged in an ongoing effort to prevent Baral (and Moss Adams) from setting the record straight (AA372-AA379)—was *identical* to what he had previously pled as "defamation." (See discussion *supra* page 10.) But Baral claimed that because he had affixed the labels "breach of fiduciary duty," "constructive fraud," and "declaratory relief" to these allegations, they were no longer the same causes of action. (AA801.)

Schnitt again filed an anti-SLAPP motion, directed solely at the Moss Adams Claims that were previously stricken. (AA646.) Importantly, Schnitt never contested that Baral could demonstrate (under the prong-two standard that resolves all factual issues in Baral's favor) a probability of succeeding with respect to Baral's *other* claims, which were *not* protected under the anti-SLAPP statute and solely related to Schnitt allegedly freezing Baral out of the negotiations concerning the sale of IQB. (AA1080.) Schnitt instead contended that the anti-SLAPP motion should be granted because Baral could not succeed on his *protected* claims regarding Moss Adams, especially given that Baral had already lost these very claims in the first anti-SLAPP motion. (*Id.*)

The trial court, in a decision by a different judge from the one who had granted the first special motion to strike, denied the anti-SLAPP motion through rote application of the *Mann* rule, holding that the anti-SLAPP statute only allows the striking of whole causes of action. (AA1116.)

Schnitt promptly appealed that ruling, resulting in the decision below.

IV. ARGUMENT: THE ANTI-SLAPP STATUTE CANNOT BE AVOIDED BY COMBINING CLAIMS BASED ON PROTECTED CONDUCT WITH CLAIMS BASED ON UNPROTECTED CONDUCT AND CALLING THE AMALGAMATION A "SINGLE" CAUSE OF ACTION

The anti-SLAPP analysis involves a familiar two-step process. "First, the court decides whether the defendant has made a threshold showing that the challenged cause of action is one 'arising from' protected activity. (Code Civ. Proc., § 425.16, subd. (b)(1).) If the court finds such a showing has been made, it then must consider whether the plaintiff has demonstrated a probability of prevailing on the claim." *City of Cotati v. Cashman* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 69, 76 [124 Cal.Rptr.2d 519, 52 P.3d 695].

This Petition relates to the second part of that analysis.<sup>2</sup>

The appellate court properly held that the claims at issue here relating to the Moss Adams Fraud Audit "arose from" protected activity under the statute, and there is no reason for this Court to review that issue. "The *apparently unanimous* conclusion of published appellate cases is that 'where a cause of action alleges both protected and unprotected activity, the cause of action will be subject to section 425.16 unless the protected conduct is 'merely incidental' to the unprotected conduct. [citations]" (*Peregrine Funding, Inc. v. Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hampton LLP* (2005) 133 Cal.App.4th 658, 672 [35 Cal.Rptr.3d 31], quoting *Mann*, 120

Specifically, it asks this Court to decide whether a plaintiff can side-step the need to demonstrate a probability of prevailing on a claim by simply lumping that claim together with other claims (whether those other claims arise from protected activity or not) under a single "cause of action" and then showing that those *other* claims have minimal merit. Petitioner respectfully contends that allowing such an easy end-run around the anti-SLAPP statute will effectively render it a nullity through artful pleading and, in so doing, thwart the Legislature's purpose of providing strong disincentives to bring meritless claims attacking a person's right of petition or free speech and ameliorating the burdens that would otherwise be placed on persons forced to defend such actions.

A. THE ANTI-SLAPP STATUTE APPLIES TO EACH "CAUSE OF ACTION," A TERM WITH A UNIVERSAL MEANING IN CALIFORNIA CIVIL PROCEDURE HAVING NOTHING TO DO WITH THE ORGANIZATION OF THE COMPLAINT

The anti-SLAPP statute allows the court to strike causes of action based on certain protected conduct:

A cause of action against a person arising from any act of that person in furtherance of the person's right of petition or free speech under the United States Constitution or the California Constitution in connection with a public issue shall be subject to a special motion to strike, unless the court determines that

Cal.App.4th at p. 103, italics added.) Here, the protected conduct of investigating Baral and others' wrongful conduct via the Moss Adams Fraud Audit in anticipation of litigation is far more than merely incidental.

the plaintiff has established that there is a probability that the plaintiff will prevail on the claim.

(Code Civ. Proc., § 425.16, subd. (b)(1).) The anti-SLAPP statute's focus on a "cause of action" is not, of course, unique.<sup>3</sup> At every step, California civil procedure is focused on discerning the causes of action at issue in a case because, ultimately, that is what defines the res judicata effect of a judgment.

As this Court has explained, the violation of a primary right creates one cause of action, no matter how many different legal theories are pled:

California's res judicata doctrine is based upon the primary right theory. ... "It provides that a 'cause of action' is comprised of a 'primary right' of the plaintiff, a corresponding 'primary duty' of the defendant, and a wrongful act by the defendant constituting a breach of that duty. The most salient characteristic of a primary right is that it is indivisible: the violation of a single primary right gives rise to but a single cause of action...."

(Mycogen Corp. v. Monsanto Co. (2002) 28 Cal.4th 888, 904 [123 Cal.Rptr.2d 432] [citations omitted].)

Although the anti-SLAPP statute alternatively uses the words "cause of action" and "claim," these terms are synonymous, as this Court's usage of them repeatedly shows. (See, e.g., *Hayes v. County of San Diego* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 622, 631 [160 Cal.Rptr.3d 684, 305 P.3d 252]; *Pooshs v. Philip Morris USA, Inc.* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 788, 800, fn. 6 [123 Cal.Rptr.3d 578, 250 P.3d 181].) Thus, this Petition will likewise use them interchangeably. But, even if the terms could possibly "mean something different" from one another, that would still support Petitioner's argument here, as discussed in detail in *Wallace*, *supra*, 196 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1197-1198.

Thus, "[w]hether a complaint in fact asserts one or more causes of action for pleading purposes depends on whether it alleges invasion of one or more primary rights." (*Hindin v. Rust* (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 1247, 1257 [13 Cal.Rptr.3d 668].) The way in which the complaint is organized is totally irrelevant to this analysis:

The manner in which a plaintiff elects to organize his or her claims within the body of the complaint is irrelevant to determining the number of causes of action alleged under the primary right theory. "...[I]f a plaintiff alleges that the defendant's single wrongful act invaded two different primary rights, he has stated two causes of action, and this is so even though the two invasions are pleaded in a single count of the complaint."

(*Ibid.* [citations omitted]; see also, *McCoy v. Gustafson* (2009) 180 Cal.App.4th 56, 102-103 [103 Cal.Rptr.3d 37].)

This primary-right based definition of "cause of action" is equally applicable at the demurrer and summary adjudication stages. Both a demurrer and a motion for summary adjudication must be brought against a "cause of action," as determined by a primary right analysis. (*Lilienthal & Fowler v. Superior Court* (1993) 12 Cal.App.4th 1848, 1853-1854 [16 Cal.Rptr.2d 458] ["cause of action" for summary judgment is based on primary right analysis, not the way the complaint is organized]; *Lincoln Property Co., N.C., Inc. v. Travelers Indem. Co.* (2006) 137 Cal.App.4th 905, 912-913 [41 Cal.Rptr.3d 39].) Thus, in both pre- and post-trial phases, California civil procedure uses the term "cause of action" to refer to the

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