**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

---

ROBERT BARAL,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

vs.

DAVID SCHNITT,

Defendant and Petitioner.

SUPREME COURT  
FILED

APR - 6 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

---

After a Published Decision of the Court of Appeal  
Second Appellate District, Division One (Case No. B253620)  
Appeal from the Los Angeles Superior Court  
Honorable Maureen Duffy-Lewis (Case No. BC475350)

---

**ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

SAUER & WAGNER LLP  
\*Gerald L. Sauer (SBN 113564)  
Amir A. Torkamani (SBN 260009)  
1801 Century Park East, Suite 1150  
Los Angeles, California 90067  
(310) 712-8100  
Attorneys for Plaintiff and Respondent

**I. INTRODUCTION**

Schnitt’s Petition for Review (“Petition”) should be denied for the following reasons:

- This case is not ripe for review by this Court because the trial court has not yet determined if Schnitt has standing to invoke the litigation privilege and thereby trigger the procedural safeguards of the anti-SLAPP statute.
- The Petition blatantly mischaracterizes the record in asserting that the purported mixed causes of action in the Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) are the result of artful pleading – the rebranding of protected claims in the same cause of action containing unprotected claims. In fact, as noted by the Court of Appeal in its Opinion, the allegations in the SAC, targeted by Schnitt’s anti-SLAPP motion, involve distinct claims that were not previously alleged in any prior version of the operative complaint. Put simply, this case is not the poster child for the artful pleading malady advocated by Schnitt.
- The appellate courts are not divided on the precise procedural issue presented by this case concerning whether a party can

utilize an anti-SLAPP motion to parse allegations from mixed causes of actions in the operative pleading. The purported split in authority pertains, at best, to the ability of the courts, ***not the parties***, to parse allegations from mixed causes of action in adjudicating anti-SLAPP motions. In short, this case is not a “good vehicle” to resolve any outstanding conflicts of authority.

In light of the foregoing issues, and as further explained below, the Petition should be denied.

With regard to the issue of ripeness, the Petition fails to mention that the Court of Appeal acknowledged that Schnitt’s standing to invoke the litigation privilege was an “open question” and that it declined to “decide the merits of the litigation privilege ***as applied to the second amended complaint***”. (*Baral v. Schnitt* (2015) 233 Cal.App.4th 1423, 1437 [183 Cal.Rptr.3d 615, 625], emphasis added [hereafter *Baral*].) The Court of Appeal further acknowledged that the trial court could consider the litigation privilege issue upon remand. (*Ibid.*) In light of this open question, it would be premature for this Court to accept review of this case because the SAC may not contain any allegations that touch upon protected activity (*i.e.*, petition and free speech rights) in the event that the trial court determines that Schnitt does not have standing to invoke the litigation privilege. This ground alone justifies denial of the Petition.

With regard to Schnitt’s assertion that Baral has engaged in “artful pleading” to circumvent the intent of the anti-SLAPP statute, the Court of Appeal found this allegation to be completely untrue. In its Opinion, the Court of Appeal examined the claims alleged by Baral in the SAC and recognized that “[t]his is not a case in which the plaintiff merely rebranded a prior defamation claim and thereby implicated concerns about artful pleading.” (*Baral, supra*, 233 Cal.App.4th at 1442.) In short, this case



does *not* justify the granting of review by this Court because it does not involve an example of the use of artful pleading to evade the purpose of the anti-SLAPP statute.

With regard to a purported split in authority, Schnitt has identified two published decisions, *City of Colton* (2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 751 [142 Cal.Rptr.3d 74] [hereafter *City of Colton*], and *Cho v. Chang* (2013) 219 Cal.App.4th 521 [161 Cal.Rptr.3d 846] [hereafter *Cho*], that have affirmed the ability of the courts, not the parties, to parse allegations from mixed causes of action in the operative pleading. In both *City of Colton* and *Cho*, the parties pursuing anti-SLAPP motions utilized them in a manner consistent with the anti-SLAPP statute as a result of seeking to strike the entire operative pleading or separate causes of action. In this case, Schnitt adopted the novel approach of drafting an anti-SLAPP motion that only sought to parse allegations concerning alleged protected activity from purported mixed causes of action in the SAC. In light of Schnitt's procedural shenanigans, the Court of Appeal criticized the conclusions reached in both *City of Colton* and *Cho* in opening the door to "artfulness" on the part of parties filing anti-SLAPP motions to excise allegations and thereby stop discovery, delay proceedings and burden the courts with more motions. (*Baral, supra*, 233 Cal.App.4th at 1440-43.) The Court of Appeal's criticism of *City of Colton* and *Cho* in this case is *dicta* because neither of those decisions holds that *a party* can utilize an anti-SLAPP motion to parse allegations from a mixed cause of action. In fact, there are no published decisions in California in which a party has utilized an anti-SLAPP motion in the same manner as Schnitt did in this case. Put simply, Schnitt has failed to identify a split in authority that would justify review by this Court.

For the stated reasons above, and as further explained below, Baral respectfully requests that the Petition should be denied.

**II. SCHNITT’S PETITION DOES NOT SET FORTH ANY GROUNDS TO JUSTIFY THE GRANTING OF REVIEW BY THIS COURT.**

**A. This Case Is Not Ripe For Review Because The Trial Court Has Not Ruled On Schnitt’s Standing To Invoke The Litigation Privilege.**

The issue of Schnitt’s standing to exercise the litigation privilege remains unresolved. Assuming, *arguendo*, that the trial court, upon remand, determines that Schnitt does not have standing to assert the litigation privilege, then the anti-SLAPP statute would not be applicable because the allegations in the SAC would not embrace any protected activity. Specifically, if Schnitt cannot invoke the litigation privilege, then the allegations in the SAC involving the Investigative Report issued by Moss Adams LLP (“Moss Adams”) do not rise to the level of protected activity and do not fall within the scope of the anti-SLAPP statute.

In order to be “ripe” for review, a controversy must be “definite and concrete . . . as distinguished from an opinion advising what the law would be upon a hypothetical state of facts.” (*Pac. Legal Found. v. California Coastal Com.* (1982) 33 Cal.3d 158, 169 [188 Cal.Rptr. 104, 655 P.2d 306].) The facts must have “sufficiently congealed to permit an intelligent and useful decision to be made” before a case can be considered ripe. (*Id.* at 171.) The purpose of this policy is to prevent courts from being drawn into disputes that “depend for their immediacy on speculative future events.” (*Id.* at 173.)

In this case, the issue of Schnitt’s standing, in his individual capacity, to invoke the litigation privilege was never considered by the trial court and was not the subject of the parties’ appellate briefs. During oral argument before the Court of Appeal, the issue of Schnitt’s standing was raised for the first time. In order to consider this issue, the Court of Appeal

requested supplemental briefing from the parties concerning, among other things, Schnitt's standing to exercise the litigation privilege. (*Baral, supra*, 233 Cal.App.4th at 1431.) After reviewing the supplemental briefs, the Court of Appeal decided that the standing issue should be determined by the trial court and stated:

By this observation, we are not ruling that the litigation privilege does not apply to these allegations, ***but only that this is still an open question.*** . . . We decline the invitation to decide the merits of the litigation privilege ***as applied to the second amended complaint.*** As set forth *post* in part IV, even if, *arguendo*, Schnitt were correct that the litigation privilege applies to the Moss Adams allegations in the second amended complaint, the anti-SLAPP statute does not authorize excising allegations in mixed causes of action where the plaintiff has demonstrated a *prima facie* case of prevailing on part of the mixed cause of action. Once again, by so ruling, we express no opinion on what impact, if any, the litigation privilege would have on future pretrial and trial proceedings upon remand. (*Baral, supra*, 233 Cal.App.4th at 1437, *emphasis added.*)

In order to ensure that the trial court, upon remand, is presented with an immediate opportunity to decide the standing issue, the Court of Appeal vacated the trial court's September 23, 2014 order that denied Schnitt's motion to quash a subpoena requiring the production of documents by Moss Adams. (*Baral, supra*, 233 Cal.App.4th at 1443.) As a result of this

act by the Court of Appeal, the parties will be able to address the issue of Schnitt's standing to invoke the litigation privilege in the context of the trial court's reconsideration of the motion to quash. Assuming, *arguendo*, the trial court rules that Schnitt does not have standing, then the allegations in the SAC pertaining to Moss Adams would not involve any protected activity and would not fall within the scope of the anti-SLAPP statute. Put another way, this case may not involve a mixed cause of action if the trial court determines on the merits that Schnitt lacks standing to invoke the litigation privilege.

At this juncture of the proceedings, it would be premature for the Court to grant review of a case that requires a ruling by the trial court as to whether the allegations in the SAC actually involve a protected activity. The Court of Appeal made it abundantly clear in its Opinion that this issue should be adjudicated by the trial court, and it makes sense for trial court to do so. Therefore, based on the issue of ripeness alone, Schnitt's Petition should be denied.

**B. This Case Does Not Involve The Use Of Artful Pleading To Evade The Purpose Of The Anti-SLAPP Statute.**

In hopes of enticing this Court to grant review, Schnitt creates the false impression that Baral engaged in "artful pleading" to resurrect defamation claims that were previously dismissed by the trial court based on the applicability of the anti-SLAPP statute. Schnitt's characterization of the facts is woefully inaccurate and paints a distorted picture that Baral's defamation claims were stricken from the original complaint, and those same claims were simply rebranded and reincorporated into the SAC. [Petition, at 2-3, 12-13.] Schnitt goes so far as to assert that the SAC was amended to "re-allege *the very same conduct* under a 'new' heading along with *other, indisputably unprotected conduct*" and that the allegations in the

SAC were “*identical* to what [Baral] had previously pled as ‘defamation.’”  
[Petition, at 3 and 13; emphasis in original.]

Of course, as recognized by the Court of Appeal, Schnitt’s characterization of the allegations in the SAC is simply not true. In its Opinion, the Court of Appeal carefully examined the SAC and found:

There are *no defamation claims in the second amended complaint*, and Baral is not seeking damages regarding the Moss Adams allegations in that complaint. The Moss Adams allegations in the second amended complaint regard a different wrong – breach of fiduciary duty in being frozen out of the management of IQ.  
(*Baral, supra*, 23 Cal.App.4th at 1437.)

...

*This is not a case in which the plaintiff merely rebranded a prior defamation claim and thereby implicated concerns about artful pleading.* Instead, the second amended complaint describes several acts of self-dealing and breaches of fiduciary duty aimed at depriving Baral of the financial benefits of his investments of time and labor in IQ, of which the Moss Adams allegations are but a small part. (*Id.* at 1442, emphasis added.)

Schnitt’s misrepresentation of the facts is intended to pique this Court’s interest in taking steps to curtail the purported use of mixed causes of action to sidestep the intent of the anti-SLAPP statute. However, since this case does not involve the very conduct that Schnitt contends requires review by this Court, Schnitt’s Petition should be denied.

**C. The Appellate Courts Are Not Divided On Whether Schnitt’s Anti-SLAPP Motion Is Procedurally Improper.**

**1. There Are Only Two Appellate Decisions That Stand For The Proposition That The Court, Not The Moving Party, May Parse The Allegations Of A Complaint Subject To An Anti-SLAPP Motion.**

The overarching theme of Schnitt’s Petition is that there is a sharp divide in the appellate courts as to whether the anti-SLAPP statute is designed to “strike anything less than what a plaintiff happens to lump together as a ‘single’ cause of action.” [Petition, at 1.] Schnitt contends that this Court’s reference to *Mann v. Quality Old Time Service, Inc.* (2004) 120 Cal.App.4th 90 [15 Cal.Rptr.3d 215] [hereafter *Mann*]<sup>1</sup> in *Oasis West Realty, LLC v. Goldman* (2011) 51 Cal. 4th 811, 820 [124 Cal.Rptr.3d 256, 250 P.3d 1115] [hereafter *Oasis West*] represents the cause of this split in authority. [Petition, at 1.] As will be demonstrated below, only two cases, *City of Colton* and *Cho*, actually involved the parsing of allegations in a single cause of action **by the court** (not the moving party) in ruling on an anti-SLAPP motion, and *Cho* is the only case to explicitly refuse to acknowledge this Court’s adoption of the *Mann* rule in *Oasis West*.<sup>2</sup> In

---

<sup>1</sup> In *Mann*, the Court of Appeal set forth a new rule of law [hereafter “the *Mann* rule”] regarding the second prong of analysis under the anti-SLAPP statute involving mixed causes of action. The *Mann* rule establishes that “[w]here a cause of action refers to both protected and unprotected activity and a plaintiff can show a probability of prevailing on any part of its claim, the cause of action is not meritless and will not be subject to the anti-SLAPP procedure”. (*Mann, supra*, 120 Cal.App.4th at 106.)

<sup>2</sup> It is important to note that since *Mann*’s publication over a decade ago, appellate courts have overwhelmingly recognized its importance and applicability to “mixed” causes of action in conducting an analysis under the anti-SLAPP statute. In fact, appellate courts have repeatedly acknowledged this Court’s adoption and affirmance of the *Mann* rule in

taking a closer look at both *City of Colton* and *Cho*, this Court will find that the granting of review of this case is not warranted.

In order to create the illusion of a cataclysmic split at the appellate court level concerning the applicability of the *Mann* rule, Schnitt relies heavily on another decision issued by this Court, *Taus v. Loftus* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 683 [54 Cal.Rptr.3d 775, 151 P.3d 1185] [hereafter *Taus*], that does not involve an analysis of mixed causes of action under the anti-SLAPP statute. In *Taus*, the plaintiff asserted several causes of action relating primarily to an invasion of privacy. The defendants filed an anti-SLAPP motion that the trial court denied with respect to several causes of action while allowing the bulk of plaintiff's claims to go forward. (*Taus, supra*, 40 Cal.4th at 690.) Thereafter, the appellate court determined that most, if not all, of plaintiff's claims should be dismissed. (*Ibid.*) Following the appellate court's decision, only defendants sought review before this Court. (*Ibid.*)

---

*Oasis West*. (See, e.g., *Burrill v. Nair* (2013) 217 Cal.App.4th 357, 382 [158 Cal.Rptr.3d 332, 348], expressly acknowledging *Oasis West's* adoption of the *Mann* rule; *Haight Ashbury Free Clinics, Inc. v. Happening House Ventures* (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 1539 [110 Cal.Rptr.3d 129], expressly affirming the *Mann* rule as applicable to "mixed" causes of action; *Guessous v. Chrome Hearts, LLC* (2009) 179 Cal.App.4th 1177 [102 Cal.Rptr.3d 214], holding an anti-SLAPP motion cannot be used to strike specific requests for relief; *Platypus Wear, Inc. v. Goldberg* (2008) 166 Cal.App.4th 772, 786 [83 Cal.Rptr.3d 95, 106], holding an anti-SLAPP motion cannot be used to "parse" a cause of action, citing *Mann, supra*, 120 Cal.App.4th at 106; *A.F. Brown Elec. Contractor, Inc. v. Rhino Elec. Supply, Inc.* (2006) 137 Cal.App.4th 1118, 1124-25 [41 Cal.Rptr.3d 1, 5], adopting the *Mann* rule and holding "[t]he anti-SLAPP statute authorizes the court to strike a cause of action, but unlike motions to strike under section 436, it cannot be used to strike particular allegations within a cause of action."; *Marlin v. Aimco Venezi, LLC* (2007) 154 Cal.App.4th 154 [64 Cal.Rptr.3d 488], holding prayer for injunction cannot be stricken pursuant to anti-SLAPP motion.)

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